

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre

Kumkar, Lars

## **Working Paper**

Regulatory choices and commitment: challenges for electricity market regulation in Kosovo

Kiel Working Paper, No. 1114

## **Provided in Cooperation with:**

Kiel Institute for the World Economy – Leibniz Center for Research on Global Economic Challenges

*Suggested Citation:* Kumkar, Lars (2002): Regulatory choices and commitment: challenges for electricity market regulation in Kosovo, Kiel Working Paper, No. 1114, Kiel Institute for World Economics (IfW), Kiel

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/17780

## Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

#### Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



## **Kiel Institute for World Economics**

Duesternbrooker Weg 120 24105 Kiel (Germany)

Kiel Working Paper No. 1114

## Regulatory Choices and Commitment – Challenges for Electricity Market Regulation in Kosovo

by

Lars Kumkar

June 2002

The responsibility for the contents of the working papers rests with the authors, not the Institute. Since working papers are of a preliminary nature, it may be useful to contact the authors of a particular working paper about results or caveats before referring to, or quoting, a paper. Any comments on working papers should be sent directly to the authors.

# Regulatory Choices and Commitment – Challenges for Electricity Market Regulation in Kosovo\*

#### Abstract

This paper aims at describing the choices to be made in selecting and implementing a reform model for the electricity industry and to derive some implications for the situation in Kosovo. The paper argues that the appropriate reform model depends on the circumstances in the considered jurisdiction. Especially in small and less developed electricity systems a dilemma may emerge: the technical circumstances suggest the implementation of a model with few competitive elements, whereas political circumstances urge for a competition-oriented model. Hence, especially in small systems, a delicate trade-off emerges that significantly complicates the decisions to be made. This is obviously relevant for Kosovo. An international opening of Kosovo's electricity market may provide a solution to the dilemma. This international opening encompasses a reduction of state sovereignty for electricity regulation and a wide-reaching market opening for private investors and electricity traders.

JEL Classification: H4, K2, L5, 19, P3, Q4

*Keywords:* Power sector, new institutional economics, liberalization, pool, privatization, regulation, restructuring, regulatory reform, single buyer, transition.

#### Lars Kumkar

Kiel Institute for World Economics Duesternbrooker Weg 120 D-24100 Kiel

Phone: ++431/8814-216, Fax: ++431/8814-500

Email: Lars.Kumkar@ifw.uni-kiel.de, Homepage: http://www.uni-kiel.de/ifw/

\* Paper presented at the 'International Conference on Privatization of Socially Owned Enterprises and the Reform of Utilities' organized by Riinvest Institute for Development Research in Prishtina, June 28-29. The paper has particularly benefited from discussions with Frank Bickenbach and Rüdiger Soltwedel. The usual disclaimer applies.

## **Contents**

I	Introduction					
II	Institutional Economics of Regulation: General Implications					
	1.	The New Institutional Economics Paradigm				
	2.	Implications for Regulation				
Ш	Regulatory Models for the Electricity Industry: More Specific Insights					
	1.	The Traditional Answer: Monopolization and Comprehensive Regulation and/or Public Ownership				
	2.	Reform of Regulation of Network Industries				
	3.	Regulatory Models and their Comparative Advantages				
	4.	A Dilemma				
IV	Some Further Thoughts on the Situation in Kosovo					
	1.	Current Situation				
	2.	Immediate Answer				
	3.	Two Approaches to Solve the Dilemma				
		b) Improvement of Grid Density and Quality, and Market Opening				
V	Concluding Remarks					
Ref	erenc	res				

"The Kosovo Electricity Company (KEK) has major engineering and management problems. Its two thermal generators are old and prone to failure. About one-third of total electricity generated by the company is lost due to technical problems or theft, and less than half of the remaining output is paid by consumers. With about 10,000 employees, the company is overstaffed. As a result, KEK has been a drain on the budget. Emergency repairs and stricter oversight by UNMIK have improved performance somewhat. However, KEK is still not able to generate enough electricity to meet domestic needs, and blackouts are frequent."

- Demekas et al. (2002:11)

#### I Introduction

Reform and privatization of electricity companies is not an easy task. Even in developed market economies, such as the Western European countries or the United States, reform often faces obstacles, failures, and unexpected difficulties. It is an even more difficult task in former socialist countries that have to build entirely new institutional arrangements, for example, a system of private property rights and a new contract law. It seems a yet more difficult task in Kosovo, considering the uncertain political status and considering that Kosovo is still in the beginning of the transformation process.

This paper aims at describing the fundamental choices to be made in selecting and implementing a reform model for the electricity industry and to derive some implications for the situation in Kosovo. It will be argued that the technical characteristics of every electricity system imply some general economic and regulatory peculiarities, which distinguish this sector from most other sectors. It will further be argued that the appropriate reform model depends in a quite sensitive manner on the particular circumstances in the considered jurisdiction. Important technical factors are market size and network density. One additional and important determinant is political stability. Complementarities between an appropriate reform model and the stability of the institutional environment imply that a model that works effectively in one jurisdiction can end in a disaster in another jurisdiction; and vice versa.

Especially in small and less developed countries, e.g., in most transition countries, a dilemma may emerge: the technical circumstances suggest the implementation of a model with few competitive elements; the political circumstances often suggest a more competition-oriented model. Hence, especially in small developing systems a delicate trade-off emerges, which significantly complicates the decisions to be made. This argument obviously holds for Kosovo. The arguments presented in this paper lead to a quite robust conclusion: a substantial international opening of Kosovo's electricity market may provide a solution to the dilemma. This international opening encompasses a more or less distinct abandonment of state sovereignty for electricity regulation and a wide-reaching market opening for private investors and electricity traders.

This paper is structured as follows: first, the paper introduces on a rather abstract level the basic analytical concepts used and derives general implications for regulation (Chapter II). Against this backdrop, the paper discusses the main issues of regulation within the power sector (Chapter III). On this basis, Chapter IV provides some thoughts on the situation in Kosovo. Chapter V concludes with a recommendation for Kosovo's electricity reform.

## II Institutional Economics of Regulation: General Implications

## 1. The New Institutional Economics Paradigm

The purpose of the following discussion is to describe the basics of New Institutional Economics (NIE) in the area of regulation and to assess their implications for economic policy-making. The core of NIE is the Coase theorem (Coase 1960): in a hypothetical world with no costs of concluding and enforcing contracts all potential gains from trade would be realized irrespective of the distribution of property rights and institutional arrangements. In the real world, however, carrying out transactions is associated with costs, irrespective of the question whether private, public, or both types of agents are involved.

Transaction costs arise especially because of contractual hazards of trade between individuals acting opportunistically under uncertainty. To realize (most of) the potential gains from trade, the parties involved have to cooperate. Their actions have to be coordinated and they must be motivated to comply with their contractual duties. Because of individuals' opportunism ("self-interest seeking with guile", Williamson 1985: 47), mere promises may not be enough to (self-) enforce the agreements made, to solve the coordination and motivation problems, and to protect trading partners from the hazards associated with exchange. The contractual relationship must be carefully designed and governed. Thus, institutions, that is, rules and instruments to enforce these rules (North 1990, Davis and North 1971), impact on the efficiency of contracting.

Information impactedness and asset specificity are the two most important conditions under which transactions may cause especially severe contractual hazards. 'Information impactedness' refers to a situation either where information is asymmetrically distributed between transacting parties and can be equalized only at great costs, or where it is costly to apprise an arbiter of the true information condition should a dispute arise between contracting parties with identical knowledge of the underlying circumstances. In such situations, individuals acting opportunistically may disclose information in a selective and distorted way. This entails incentives to misrepresent information to obtain more favorable contract terms (adverse selection) or to not comply with the agreement (moral hazard).

'Asset specificity' generally refers to a durable investment undertaken in support of particular transactions, with the value of the investment being much lower in the best alternative use should the original transaction be terminated prematurely. The realization of cost economies often requires investments in relationship-specific assets that 'isolate' the transactors from market alternatives and from the protection they can provide (Masten 1999: 40). Once specific investments have been made, that is, when the costs associated with the investments are sunk, they effectively lock the buyer and seller into a bilateral trading relationship, even if both contract parties were in competition prior to the investment.

For a more in-depth NIE-based survey on antitrust and regulation, see Bickenbach et al. (2002); for a comprehensive overview of NIE, see Furubotn and Richter (1997) and Erlei et al. (1999); for a NIE-based analysis of the electricity industry, Kumkar (2000). The theoretical and methodological basis provided by New Institutional Economics appears to be particularly well suited for analyzing the economics of complex coordination problems that characterize electricity supply and other network industries. NIE comprises transaction cost economics, property rights theory, and principal-agent theory. Despite important differences between these approaches, they complement one another to a large degree. They are all based on the assumption that institutions matter and can be subjected to economic analysis.

In general terms, transaction costs include both the direct costs of carrying out a transaction and the opportunity costs incurred when an efficiency-enhancing transaction is not realized (Milgrom and Roberts 1992: 604). Thus, transaction costs may be interpreted as the difference between total costs of supply (including cost of regulation and antitrust) and the minimum production costs in the hypothetical 'first best' case.

This may give rise to a hold-up problem: the party undertaking a relationship-specific investment is vulnerable to the threat made by the other party, aiming at obtaining better terms than initially agreed, to terminate that relationship. Hence, without some specific safeguard against appropriation (such as a binding long-term contract or integration, that is, joint ownership of assets), parties may be reluctant to invest in relationship-specific assets despite the potential gains in doing so. In a world of positive transaction costs, contractual or institutional arrangements are both costly and imperfect. Therefore, measured against the standard neoclassical first-best, not all potential gains from trade can be realized. In many cases, complete (neoclassical) contracts are not feasible; incomplete contracts (or vertical integration) are the appropriate choice.<sup>3</sup> Incomplete contracts allow parties to respond flexibly to unforeseen (or unforeseeable) events, but for the same reason they also imply problems of imperfect commitment by the contracting parties and the danger of ex-post opportunistic behavior.

Thus, in choosing between more or less incomplete contracts, and in designing these contracts, there is generally a trade-off between the protection against opportunistic behavior on the one hand and the ability to flexibly adjust to unforeseen or changing contingencies on the other. Some arrangements, however, are associated with lower transaction costs than others, whereby the choice of governance structures influences efficiency. The comparative efficiency and thus the (actual and/or appropriate) choice of a particular governance structure is influenced by the institutional environment, that is, the basic political, legal and social rules of the game that define the context in which economic activity is taking place. The institutional environment influences both the set of governance structures that can actually be chosen, and their comparative efficiency. This holds true for both private choices, such as the make-or-buy decisions of a firm, and public choices with respect to antitrust and regulation, for example, the design of competences for a regulatory agency or the choice between alternative substantive regulatory models for the electricity industry.

## 2. Implications for Regulation

In some industries private contracts may be unable to ascertain specific contractual objectives on the basis of general contract law and general court enforcement. In this case, it may be worthwhile considering specific laws or regulatory rules and their enforcement by a public 'regulator' (antitrust or regulatory agency). In analyzing these options, it is useful to conceive of antitrust and regulation as an (at least partly) implicit long-term, collective contractual relationship between firms and consumers. A regulator – as an agent of all or some of the contracting parties – is made (at least partly) responsible for the 'administration' of the contract, that is, for its design, execution, interpretation, revision, adaptation, and enforcement (Goldberg 1976). Antitrust and regulation may increase confidence and the expectation of being treated fairly and may thus help contain transaction costs more effectively than private agreements on the basis of contract law and court enforcement alone.

Note that the theoretical identification of a potential market power and market failure problem does not in itself imply that antitrust and regulation would ensure an increase in efficiency: a

Grossman and Hart (1986); Hart and Moore (1990). For a discussion of the methodological foundations and problems of the incomplete contracts approach of the new property rights theory, see Tirole (1999), Maskin and Tirole (1999a, 1999b), and Hart and Moore (1999).

For a discussion of general NIE implications for industrial organization see Bickenbach et al. (2002: 189-192) and Joskow (1991). For surveys of the empirical evidence see Joskow (1991), Crocker and Masten (1996), Lyons (1996), and Shelanski and Klein (1999).

We disregard for a moment the possibility of public ownership as a governance structure. See the discussion in Chapter IV.

pure laissez-faire attitude may still be the best solution; before regulating, an assessment of the empirical relevance (existence and magnitude) of the problem is necessary. In addition, there are, of course, transaction cost problems under antitrust and regulation as well. Because of information asymmetries both between regulator and firms and between regulator and consumers and because of commitment problems, even a benevolent regulator could not perfectly solve the contracting problems of the private parties; and non-benevolence of the regulator could give rise to additional inefficiencies.

Thus, the counterpart of 'market failure' is 'regulatory failure'; the counterpart of 'market power' is 'regulatory opportunism'. Comparing 'unregulated' markets and competition (or integration) based on general contract law on the one hand and specific laws such as antitrust and regulation on the other is, therefore, at best a comparison of constrained (second-best) efficient institutional alternatives. Antitrust and regulation could be (but need not necessarily be) a cost-effective device for private exchange relations in industries with complex coordination problems. From a normative point of view, the choice between general contract law and antitrust or (more specific) regulation becomes largely a question of whether court enforcement or administration by antitrust or regulation agencies is the more effective means of governing those relations.<sup>6</sup>

a) The Search for 'Optimal' Regulatory Rules

Network industries, for example, the transport, energy and telecommunications industries, are characterized by particularly complex contracting problems. These industries thus have traditionally been considered to be examples of industries where regulation is necessary to achieve efficiency.

The electricity industry is a conspicuous case in point. It is an example of an industry where the liberalization of potentially competitive segments and the regulation of network access are particularly difficult to implement. The production of the final product (delivered electric power) requires the coordinated supply of generation and transport. Every stage of the supply chain is characterized by a high degree of capital intensity and a high longevity of highly specific assets. There are substantial vertical and horizontal complementarities, both in operation and in investment planning, and both between and within the different stages of the supply chain (Joskow and Schmalensee 1986; Kumkar 2000).

The complementarities stem from three technical peculiarities: First, electricity cannot be economically stored but must be simultaneously produced with consumption. Second, the efficient supply of electricity to customers generally requires the use of grids, that is, a complex system of transmission and distribution cables. These grids typically connect many power stations with a large number of customers and show economies of density, scale, and scope. Third, the costs of generating electricity vary substantially in the short run. Taken together, the operation of the several parts of an electricity system must be coordinated tightly within and between different stages to avoid system instability and to provide electricity at low cost. The complex coordination problems may give rise to particularly acute hazards of opportunism between parties on the supply side that can hardly be contained by governance structures based on discrete market transactions alone.

Against this background, (contractual) safeguards are necessary to limit opportunistic behavior of the different agents in supply and demand. This may explain why hierarchical or hybrid governance structures have traditionally been dominant in electricity supply (and other network industries). These comprehensively integrated or cartelized industry structures, however, may lead to increased problems of opportunistic behavior of the monopolistic (dominant) firm(s) vis-

<sup>6</sup> Compare Crocker and Masten (1996: 12); Schmidtchen (1994: 162); Kirchner (1997). For a sketch of a NIE-based perspective on some of the standard issues of antitrust policy, namely cartels, mergers and complex long-term contracts, see Bickenbach et al. (2002: 195-197) and Joskow (2002).

à-vis consumers. Hence, the specific contractual problems of the electricity industry may entail a 'competition failure' and, thus, a potential justification of a sector-specific regulation. There is no fundamental difference on this matter between developed market economies and transition countries. The differences are mainly due to the degree of political and legal instability that complicates the design and enforcement of safeguards.

In the case of the electricity industry, regulation may help overcome private parties' contracting problems in two quite different ways. Regulation may serve predominantly as a substitute or as a precondition for competition. Traditional industrial and regulatory structures in the electricity industry substitute a combination of private hierarchy and public regulation (or public ownership) for market and competition. According to this approach, permitting or even fostering integration is considered an efficient solution to the opportunism problems on the supply side. Legal entry barriers may be useful in fostering investments in specific assets (for example, grid infrastructure) by protecting quasi-rents from being eroded too quickly. Opportunism problems between the (public or private) monopolist and consumers that are aggravated by integration should, according to this regulatory approach, be limited by means of regulating the (pricing) behavior of the monopolist. Restricting the options of both producers and consumers serves to protect specific investments of suppliers (by securing the "producer's right to serve", Goldberg 1976: 432) and shelter consumers from the abuse of market power (thus securing the "consumer's right to be served", ibid: 439). Thus, considering regulatory contracts in their entirety yields a plausible explanation and potential justification for the traditional form of regulation.

Recent empirical evidence gathered in more competitive institutional settings (liberalization and re-regulation) in the network industries, however, seems to suggest that there is an efficiency-enhancing role for increased competition in at least some stages. It may, thus, be appropriate to focus on the role of regulation as a precondition for establishing and sustaining effective competition in at least some stages of the network industries. Regulation may help establish competition if it replaces integration in its role of limiting potential hold-up situations between (independent) firms active in or on the brink of entering the industry. Consider the example of a potential independent power generator who is thinking about entering a market. Generally, the entrant will have to rely on the (technical and economical) interconnection with the existing network(s). The difficulties in ex ante excluding ex post opportunism of the incumbent network operator(s) by private contracts may be a substantive barrier to entry. The incumbent utility may simply refuse the interconnection or demand prohibitive payments for network use. Regulating the conditions of network use may help mitigate hold-up problems and other forms of opportunism of (previously) monopolistic suppliers vis-à-vis newcomers and, thus, reduce entry barriers. At the same time, access regulation provides a potentially efficient alternative to integration in that industry.

Thus, "regulation can serve to infuse trading confidence into otherwise problematic trading relations" (Williamson 1996: 268, see also Schenk 1997: 145). Provided that the regulation in question is 'appropriate', it may foster competition and improve incentives to invest in specific assets. Thus the question arises as to what the 'appropriateness' or 'optimality' of regulatory rules might mean and how to choose and implement such rules. There is, of course, an intense discussion in politics and academia on the 'optimality' of specific regulatory rules, for example, the UK-style price cap regulation, the ECP-rule for access price regulation, or the mandatory separation of bottleneck facilities.

It has been repeatedly proposed that *price-cap regulation* is an optimal rule for regulating the prices of a monopoly supplier that should be substituted for traditional rate-of-return regulation.<sup>7</sup> Proponents of price-cap regulation correctly argue that it gives the firm high-powered incentives to actively search for cost-reducing measures (thus enhancing productive efficiency). This is because under price-cap regulation, price-caps are at least in principle predetermined irrespective of endogenous changes of the firm's costs. In contrast, rate-of-return regulation calls for prices to roughly reflect costs at any point in time. This entails a high degree of allocative efficiency and does not allow the firm to realize monopoly rents – although at the cost of weakening the firm's incentives to reduce costs. Thus, there is clearly a trade-off in the choice between the two rules. The New Economics of Regulation shows that, apart from special cases, optimal price regulation requires an 'incentive contract' comprising elements of both rate-of-return and price-cap regulation with exogenous indicators determining the extent to which costs could be passed on (see Laffont 1994; Laffont and Tirole 1993; 153). The New Economics of Regulation has not (yet) been able, however, to derive implementable rules that are optimal under a broad range of circumstances. Even under strict assumptions, optimal incentive contracts depend in a sensitive and complex way on all kinds of information the regulator has, for example, about demand conditions, monetary and non-monetary costs of efficiency-enhancing measures of the firm, and the probability of different values of the cost parameters. In practice, recognition of regulatory opportunism further adds to the complexity (see next section on governance of regulation). The institutional environment thus largely determines the appropriate regulatory rule, because its stability determines the credibility of the regulator and the credibility of regulation in general.

One of the most important but also one of the most controversial questions in regulated network industries is the 'access pricing problem', e.g., the problem of getting the grid-use (transport) prices right. Although the economic literature on alternative rules for the regulation of access to the bottleneck facilities of vertically integrated (network and service) providers has developed significantly in recent years, it has not, as yet, led to clear-cut and readily usable results that – together with empirical information – could help define optimal regulatory measures (see Valetti and Estache 1999; Bickenbach 1999; Laffont and Tirole 1994). The complexity of the access problem largely stems from the fact that, in practice, regulators generally have to pursue multiple goals and act under multiple constraints. Optimal access regulation, however, is highly sensitive to the regulatory objectives and the details of the (technological and informational) regulatory environment. It crucially depends on the weighting of different (partial) objectives of regulation, on the instruments available to the regulator and, in particular, on the nature of competition and regulation on the final product markets. Only under very specific conditions (see Laffont and Tirole 1996: 242), does the 'optimal' access rule, correspond to, for example, the efficient component pricing rule (ECP-rule), 8 which has often been proposed as a general solution to the access problem (see, e.g., Baumol et al., 1997).

Measures of *structural regulation* are often proposed to remove bottleneck (network) facilities from potentially competitive parts of a comprehensively integrated and regulated industry (see, for example, Kruse 1997). An example would be the mandatory separation of electricity transmission from all other activities (generation, distribution, trade) in the electricity industry. A mandatory separation of ownership is considered a complementary or even substitute measure

The major difference between the two is the extent to which changes in the costs of production can or should be passed on to consumers via prices. For details on the discussion on rate-of-return regulation and price-cap regulation see Liston (1993), Kumkar (2000: 129-138).

According to the ECPR, the access price should be set to equate the direct incremental cost of access to the bottleneck plus the incremental opportunity costs of the bottleneck provider of granting access (e.g., lost profits from own use of the bottleneck).

for access regulation. Generally, however, such a separation does not render obsolete access price regulation because of the remaining market power of the (now separated) bottleneck owner. The importance of such a regulation for establishing effective competition may decline, though, since the incentives of the network monopolist to discriminate between competing service firms will be reduced. Under separation, access regulation may also become easier because of the greater symmetry of competitors on the service market and because information asymmetries between the regulator and the firms may decline. Any improvement of access regulation (and the benefits of a higher intensity of competition in the service market) has to be weighed against losses in efficiency due to a non-realization of (potential) economies of scope. however. The extent of these losses depends on the actual importance of these economies of scope in the respective industry, and on the extent to which these economies can be realized under alternative institutional arrangements – such as a complete separation of ownership in combination with (possibly regulated) long-term contracts or a mere separation in terms of accounting or organization. In addition, the benefits of separation depend on whether and to what extent these forms of separation will actually help improve regulation. Thus, there is a plethora of relevant factors and causalities that render the analysis of optimal structural regulation and of the relations between conduct regulation and structural regulation extraordinarily complex. The question of whether a mandatory separation of vertically integrated firms in network industries is warranted can hardly be decided on the basis of abstract reasoning alone. What seems evident, nevertheless, is that separation is no panacea for the problems of regulation in network industries.

Appropriate regulation is thus highly sensitive to the particular circumstances of the industry under consideration and the weighting of different (partial) objectives of regulation (for example, allocative and productive efficiency). The selective discussion of regulatory rules suggests that there is no such thing as an 'ideal regulatory rule'. Tying regulation to strict rules is hardly sensible given the rather unsatisfactory state of normative regulatory theory and, moreover, the extremely rapid changes in some of the network industries. Technical progress and the evolving liberalization in these industries will trigger further, largely unforeseeable, changes in the technological and market conditions to which policy will have to react. These insights suggest that the regulator should have considerable discretion as to the choice and concrete implementation of regulatory rules and instruments.

This may be a dangerous strategy, though, if the hazards of opportunism of the regulator vis-àvis firms or consumers are taken into account. Thus, a trade-off arises between the need for a flexible response of regulation to a changing environment on the one hand and the need for containing the risk of opportunistic behavior of the regulator on the other. This trade-off is not only influenced by substantive regulatory restrictions (on the availability of regulatory instruments or the respective rules) but also by the governance of regulatory policy.

## b) Hazards of Regulatory Opportunism

Analysis and design of different 'political governance structures' have to take into account the hazards of regulatory opportunism. Regulatory opportunism originates from the incompleteness of (explicit or implicit) contracts between firms and antitrust or regulation agencies. The same factors that generally impede the writing and enforcing of private complete contracts also impede the writing and enforcing of complete contracts between the public agents and the firm(s) and/or consumers. The incompleteness of regulatory contracts inevitably creates discretionary power on

However, it goes without saying that 'unbundling' of integrated firms is necessary if competition in at least some segments of the industry is strived for, and regulation of bottleneck access is considered necessary. However, unbundling is not identical to structural separation in ownership terms but may mean a mere organizational separation or separation in accounting terms to facilitate the regulation of bottleneck services.

the part of the public agents in antitrust and regulatory agencies. Generally, the hazards of opportunistic behavior by public agents increase with the extent of information asymmetries between the different agents (firms, public agents, consumers and taxpayers). Thus, in analyzing the institutional design of antitrust and regulation, NIE takes as its point of departure the idea that antitrust and regulation policies are inevitably defined and enforced by individuals who are neither omniscient nor omnipotent nor benevolent (Dixit 1996: 8).

Several forms of regulatory opportunism exist. First, there may be problems of adverse selection and moral hazard (on the side of the regulator), and second, if the appropriate incentives arise, public officials may be influenced by the regulated firms to help them pursue their specific interests ('capturing'). Third, public officials may help consumers to hold up the regulated firms and appropriate the quasi-rents stemming from their specific assets. Every type of opportunism has its costs. For example, the last problem, if anticipated, may hinder investments by the utility in question. Needed power stations will not be built and the system may be characterized by an increasing number of blackouts. <sup>10</sup>

Note that even in the case of a benevolent regulator, there may be important problems of regulatory opportunism. The ex post modification (renegotiation or unilateral change by the public agency) of the contract between the agency in question and the firms may be short term (or ex post) efficient, but long term (or ex ante) inefficient, that is, a time inconsistency can arise. A case in point is renegotiation in the form of a 'bail-out' of a struggling electricity enterprise; while such a bail-out may be in the ex post interest of both the firm and the consumers (because it sustains the electricity in the short term, not necessary in the medium to long term), it may – if anticipated – impair the ex ante incentives of the firm. This is an example of a problem that is often associated with a so-called soft budget constraint.

In the real world, 'the' regulator is no single agent; a unified government body or agency governing the whole industry does not exist. Typically, there is, for example, a hierarchy of regulators. Politicians in the legislative or the executive, as the 'upstream regulator', establish by means of an incomplete contract (law or decree) the basic regulatory principles and competences of regulatory agencies and/or courts as the 'downstream regulator', and this in turn establishes and enforces the more detailed regulatory rules for the private agents.

This hierarchy of regulators (and any separation of regulatory competences more generally) is a source of regulatory opportunism but may also be part of its solution. It contributes to the emergence of regulatory opportunism on the side of downstream officials, but may also contribute to the reduction of regulatory opportunism on the side of upstream officials. The general problem of regulatory opportunism exists on each political and administrative level of antitrust and regulation. Even if the upstream regulator were benevolent, the problem of information impactedness would prevent the writing and enforcing of complete contracts with the bureaucrats in antitrust and regulation agencies.

Because of these contracting problems, antitrust and regulation may entail problems similar to those of complex private governance structures. In particular, there is the risk of sub-optimal effort or investment (e.g., in information acquisition) on the part of the downstream regulator. Even if it were possible to limit the discretionary powers of bureaucrats in specific cases by writing a comparatively complete or comprehensive contract between upstream regulators and downstream antitrust and regulatory agencies, there would still be the problem of regulatory opportunism of politicians, which would not be limited by way of delegation through almost complete contracts.

-

A remarkable example is provided if the state does not offer (legal) means for collecting payments, i.e. for enforcing delivery contracts between an electricity company and their customers. See section IV.1 on low payment rates in Kosovo.

Establishing appropriate governance structures might mitigate the contracting problem between the politicians (or the electorate) and the bureaucrats in antitrust and regulatory agencies and thus also the problem of regulatory opportunism. To achieve this, political governance structures (or regulatory agencies and processes) should be designed according to three complementary principles: independence, accountability, and transparency (Neven et al. 1993, Seabright 1994).

Independence. Independence of an agency – defined as the existence of discretionary powers to pursue (clearly defined) specific goals that differ from the more complex goal of nurturing the 'public interest' – may help to supervise the activities of the agency and, thus, to increase its accountability. Installing a downstream institution with explicit discretionary powers – and specific interests and information – may help the upstream regulator to credibly commit to not interfering (arbitrarily) with the process of day-to-day regulation. This commitment would be desirable as it may help to contain regulatory opportunism.

Accountability. If self-interested (downstream) regulatory agents have discretion, it is necessary to contain their incentives to act opportunistically. To do so, regulatory agents should be held accountable to the general public through the political process. The incentives of the officials to behave opportunistically may be limited by establishing review procedures and instruments for disciplinary action as safeguards. To be compatible with independence, reviews should take place at regular intervals and on the basis of clearly (pre-)specified criteria. Restricting the exercise of influence to infrequent and predetermined intervals may also help to reduce regulatory capture as the ability to exercise influence at such intervals may be more equally distributed between different interest groups than is the ability to exercise day-to-day influence (Neven et al. 1993: 173).

*Transparency*. Downstream agencies should be obliged to make public the information and reasoning upon which their decisions and actions are based. This helps to reduce informational deficiencies and asymmetries, which are important sources of regulatory transaction costs.

In order to help to implement these principles, an explicit institutional separation of competences may (often) be helpful. Separating regulatory competences, that is, giving specific competences to regulate or monitor a single firm or industry to two or more different agencies may entail conflicting and, hence, inefficient decisions. At the same time, however, it may lead to – or help strengthen – an efficient system of checks and balances in which (at each horizontal level of regulation) different institutions of regulation in legislation, executive, and judiciary monitor one another. This may, e.g., make it more difficult for interest groups to exert influence on distinct regulatory institutions or to capture regulation. Overall efficiency

The options to implement these principles do not only depend on the specific characteristics of the industry in question but also on the wide institutional environment (particularly the legislative, executive and judicial institutions), in which the antitrust and regulation agencies operate. The institutional environment influences the trade-off between credibility and flexibility. This helps to understand why in some countries (e.g., the U.S.) the formal rules governing the competences of antitrust and regulation agencies can be extremely incomplete (particularly as to the substantive rules of regulation); while in others (e.g., the U.K.) regulators are bound by private contracts with the regulated firms. The options for modifying or renegotiating the original regulatory contract vary substantially. In the U.K., the sector-specific agencies generally cannot modify the contract without the (explicit) agreement of the regulated firms (with other agencies, such as the Competition Commission or a Secretary of State getting involved in the case of a dispute). In the U.S., regulatory commissions are given substantial scope for unilateral change of regulatory provisions (the regulatory commissions typically have executive, and quasi-judiciary powers with the decisions of the regulatory commissions being monitored by the courts). For an analysis of these examples, see Spiller (1996), Spiller and Vogelsang (1997).

For instance, general antitrust authorities typically are to monitor each industry with the explicit goal of enhancing or stabilizing competition, while regulatory agencies are to regulate firms with market power and may even have the authority to grant exclusive concessions.

may be enhanced, although the introduction of additional regulators will entail externalities and thus inefficiencies between the individual players.

# III Regulatory Models for the Electricity Industry: More Specific Insights

In the last two decades a drastic restructuring of both regulation and industry structures has taken place in most traditional network industries. At the level of the European Community, the process started with the liberalization of the markets for telecommunications terminal equipment. Since then, the EC has become an engine for the liberalization of traditionally comprehensively regulated national markets. This is an ongoing process. The telecommunication markets and other network infrastructures have successively been opened to competition. In some industries, particularly in the energy sector, the liberalization has only begun recently. Important questions remain open, both at a political as well as at an academic level.

In most transition countries, the tasks are even harder. Not only regulation of the enterprises has to be reformed. In most cases, the whole economic and political system must be rebuilt from scratch. Not surprisingly, the results of the privatization and reform process in the electricity sectors are mixed and progress is slow in Central and Eastern Europe.

## 1. The Traditional Answer: Monopolization and Comprehensive Regulation and/or Public Ownership

The political and economic answer to the contractual problems in the electricity supply industry has been a twofold approach. On the one hand, competition, ex ante and ex post, has been effectively ruled out and national or at least regional monopolies established, these holding exclusive rights to serve all customers in their respective franchise areas. Either the vertical and horizontal integration of formerly autonomous firms has been actively promoted (e.g., in the UK or France), or the formation of tight cartels has been approved or even enforced (e.g., in Germany). On the other hand, the corollary of this industry structure was a comprehensive regulation of monopolies. The extreme case was marked by nationalization in several countries. Beside the then socialist countries, France and the United Kingdom are to be mentioned as examples. Typically, regulation comprised of a supply obligation in the respective franchise area, complemented by the regulation of investment and pricing behavior. Moreover, a multitude of other goals such as environmental, regional, structural, and social objectives were defined in the political process and implemented by regulation.

## 2. Reform of Regulation of Network Industries

Beginning in the early 1990s, growing political dissatisfaction with the traditional regulatory structures in the Western electricity industries (and in particular with high electricity prices) and the radical changes in the former socialist countries entailed political action. In Western Europe, the former state-owned British system was the first electricity system to be fundamentally restructured in 1990; several other countries followed suit (see Kumkar and Neu 1997, Midttun 1997). According to the European electricity directive of 1996, all member countries of the EU had to open their electricity markets for competition at least for large customers. In Germany, a new electricity law complying with the directive came into effect in April 1998. Further steps at the European level are currently being discussed.

## 3. Regulatory Models and their Comparative Advantages

Generalizing from the details, the regulatory structures in jurisdictions where electricity reforms have already been implemented have one common feature: the stages of transmission and distribution are subject to ongoing regulatory surveillance and control. Where the various reform approaches mainly differ is in the regulation of electricity generation, and trade at the wholesale

Criteria<sup>a</sup> Single-buyer Wheeling Pool Common-Carrier I 0 0 Low market size. Π Low network density Ш IV 0 + Ι 0 0 Medium market size, Π 0 0 0 Ш 0 0 0 Medium network 0 density IV 0 0 0 0 0 I High market size, II High network density Ш 0 IV 0 Low stability of the institutional 0 0 environment High stability of the institutional 0 0 0 0 environment : low transaction cost : medium transaction costs (or undefined) : high transaction costs <sup>a</sup> I: safeguarding specific assets — II: potential for establishing efficient price structures — III: potential for efficient separation of the balancing market — IV: potential for competition between several institutional arrangements in power trade.

Table 1: Comparative Evaluation of Reform Models with Respect to Transaction Costs

Source: Kumkar 2000.

and the retail level. The scope of regulatory models spans from the single-buyer model to the common-carrier model ( $Table\ I$ )<sup>13</sup>:

The *single-buyer model* has been applied in numerous US states and is mentioned in the European directive of 1996. Hungary, Slovakia, Bulgaria, and Latvia provide examples for actual or planned implementation in former socialist countries. The model encompasses partial deregulation of the generation stage and of wholesale trade; all other activities in the electricity industry continue to be strictly regulated, the single-buyer is a monopsonist upstream, and a monopolist downstream.

The *wheeling model* is likewise recognized in the European directive (in particular as 'negotiated, or regulated, third-party access'), and has been implemented at the federal level in the United States. It provides some customers with wheeling rights, i.e., with rights to use grids owned by others. In this respect, it implies a partial deregulation either of wholesale trade (the US and old UK approach) or of retail trade (the approach of the EU directive) or a combination of both (the German approach). In either case, however, the owners of grids still have the (*de jure* or *de facto*) right to use their own grids with priority. The transport prices may be regulated ex ante (sometimes called 'regulated' access prices) or regulated ex post (sometimes called 'negotiated' access prices).

<sup>13</sup> Compare Kumkar (2000) for details of the stylized models, Hirschhausen und Opitz (2001: Table 3) for implementation details in East European and CIS Transformation Countries. See also Hunt and Shuttleworth (1996) for a related discussion of alternative reform models.

The *pool model*, implemented in England and Wales in 1990, provides a strict regulation of electricity trade at the wholesale level in form of a mandatory participation of all generators at the central power exchange (the Pool). At the same time, the pool model deregulates retail trade. It allows competition in generation and retail trade.

The *common-carrier model* (general access model, market model), blueprint of the Norwegian, Swedish, and Finnish as well as the (originally planned and meanwhile abandoned) Californian reforms, permits the evolution of alternative trade institutions (both at the wholesale and at the retail level). This is supported by a strict implementation of a non-discrimination rule in electricity transmission and distribution. In the common-carrier model, as in the wheeling model, transport prices may be regulated ex ante or ex post. In several countries an initially chosen wheeling model is currently evolving into a common-carrier model. <sup>14</sup>

Often, both the academic and the political discussion on the appropriate regulatory structure for the electricity industry is about identifying the 'optimal' or 'ideal' regulatory model. NIE contests that such a model exists. From an NIE perspective, the appropriate question is, rather, how well one particular model performs relative to other models under a specific set of circumstances (see also Joskow 1996). An analysis aiming at identifying an appropriate regulatory structure for a specific industry in specific circumstances must begin with the identification of the properties that distinguish institutional alternatives (regulatory models) from one another. It then has to identify the (transaction) costs associated with governing exchange under each regulatory model, and, finally, it must relate the incidence of those costs to observable dimensions of the transaction in a discriminatory way.

The overall transaction costs associated with the four above mentioned regulatory models are determined mainly by three criteria of the specific industry and political framework (Kumkar 2000): market size; scope and quality of the transmission and distribution network(s); and stability of the institutional (political) environment and its ability to control regulatory opportunism.

It can be shown that large systems should be regulated in a fundamentally different way than smaller systems, and that efficiency of electricity markets in developed countries requires other regulatory approaches than efficiency of the electricity sectors in less developed countries. For example, efficient competition between several electricity trade institutions (e.g., between bilateral contracts and power exchanges) is only to be expected if the market is of sufficient size and the grids are of good quality. More specifically, the single-buyer model has a comparative advantage in less developed systems, while especially in highly industrialized and rather large systems, the common-carrier model has a comparative advantage concerning the costs of safeguarding specific assets in generation and consumption against regulatory hold-ups, the potential for establishing efficient price structures (in time and in space), the efficiency of regulating transport prices, as well as the potential for competition between alternative institutional arrangements in power trade. The two other models possess comparative advantages mainly in medium-sized electricity markets. They may serve also as transitional models on the way to a common-carrier model in cases of initially highly concentrated generation markets.

\_

It may worth emphasizing that the main difference between the wheeling model and the common-carrier model is due to different grid-use (access) rights, i.e. the question, whether a non-discrimination rule is strictly designed and *enforced*. If, e.g., significant advantages for incumbents exist (in form of *de jure* or *de facto* priorities), a wheeling model exists, irrespective of the question, whether a 'negotiated' or 'regulated' access model is formally chosen.

#### 4. A Dilemma

However, reasoning so far has ignored the stability of the institutional environment as an important determinant of efficiency of the various reform models. In an unstable institutional environment, transaction costs and thus efficiency depends crucially upon the discretionary powers of the regulator. The wider the regulatory scope, i.e., the wider the competences and the fields of action of the regulator, and the wider the degree of vertical integration of the electricity sector, the greater is the risk of regulatory opportunism. If an appropriate system of institutional checks and balances is missing, a policy limiting the regulatory scope is a measure of reducing the risks of regulatory opportunism. Considering this aspect, the common-carrier model has the highest efficiency. In contrast, the single-buyer model is most exposed to regulatory opportunism, stemming from the wide definition of regulatory competences and the high degree of vertical integration.

When applied to transition countries, this transaction-cost based evaluation of reform models reveals a dilemma: the markets often are rather small and the grids are not well developed. This would suggest the implementation of a single-buyer model. The substantial (political) institutional instability would, on the other hand, suggest the implementation of a common-carrier model.

Indeed, experience so far has shown that reform and restructuring of the electricity sector even in developed market economies is not an easy task. Instead, even in the United States utility reform has failed (as in California)<sup>15</sup> or has stopped (as in several others states). Causes for the failures are in part of political nature, in part stemming from a lack of knowledge of appropriate reform models in particular circumstances.

In several transformation countries, reforms with similar aims and more or less radical measures have been started (see Hirschhausen and Opitz 2001 for a survey; see also Kennedy 1999, Stern and Davis 1998, and Voigt and Engerer 2002). Experience with electricity reform in these countries has shown that ambitious plans might fail, that less ambitious plans may also fail, and that appropriate regulation models depend to a large extent on the political stability and the wide institutional environment, in which both regulators and firms are operating. Evidence so far has supported the above-mentioned reasoning that there is no such thing as an 'ideal regulatory rule'. In other words: credibility and consistency of reform seem much more important than the exact design of the implemented regulatory rules and instruments (see Hirschhausen 2001 for the case of East European Transition Countries; see also Voigt and Engerer 2002).

The irritations, political faults, and risks for the liberalization approach as a whole observable here make clear how many pitfalls might exist in the transition to a competition-oriented electricity industry. The Californian transition experiment has failed, despite its prima facie attractiveness for the many economists positively and constructively accompanying the reforms since 1995/1996 (Kumkar 2002b). See also Joskow (2001).

## IV Some Further Thoughts on the Situation in Kosovo

Bad news for Kosovo? Does a solution exist for the problems in Kosovo's electricity supply industry that may solve the dilemma? An answer to this question obviously demands a closer look at the current situation.

#### 1. Current Situation

According to available information, the situation in Kosovo's electricity sector is bad. <sup>16</sup> It is true that the nominal capacity of Kosovo's power stations amounts to 1,495 MW, provided by two large lignite-fired thermal power plants near Prishtina (Kosovo A and Kosovo B, using coal from open-cast mines nearby) <sup>17</sup> and one small hydropower plant at Gazivode (European Commission/World Bank 1999: 127). At first sight, this appears to be comfortably sufficient since maximum (peak) demand in Kosovo amounts to around 550 - 650 MW. <sup>18</sup>

Nevertheless, the situation is marked by sudden power failures and rolling blackouts. What is the secret behind this puzzle? According to the 1999 European Commission/World Bank Program for Reconstruction and Recovery in Kosovo, the Kosovo A thermal power plant has five units with a total installed capacity of 800 MW (1x65 MW, 1x125 MW, 2x200 MW and 1x210 MW) and the Kosovo B thermal power plant has two units with an installed capacity of 660 MW (2x330 MW).

Even in the pre-conflict period, the thermal power plants were apparently in poor condition and the actual available capacity was significantly less. Kosovo A is over 30 years old and thus is approaching the end of its useful economic life. The second, Kosovo B, is 15 years old and apparently has good rehabilitation potential. Nevertheless, both stations are run-down<sup>19</sup> and were further damaged during the 1999 conflict. The mines, which have huge coal reserves (over 100 years), have also suffered from neglect and are unable to deliver the quantity of coal required for full power generation (Commission 2001a: 12). According to the recent European Commission's Draft Annual Programme 2002 (2002a: 9), Kosovo's current capacity limit is at 700-800 MW. This figure is roughly consistent (however, obviously slightly more realistic) with the earlier statement of the United Nations Interim Administration in Kosovo (UNMIK 2000: 111) that Kosovo A has a nominal capacity of 200 MW, and Kosovo B of 660 MW. Actually, the available generation capacity seems to be still smaller. According to the above-mentioned Programme 2002, the maximum design capacity of Kosovo A and B is insufficient to meet peak winter demand.<sup>20</sup>

Reliable statistics for Kosovo do not exist. The following discussion is thus based on some scattered information published in statements by authorities currently engaged in Kosovo (UNMIK, EU, World Bank,...). In addition, a 1998 research report by Riinvest has provided useful background information on pre-war Kosovo and its economy (Riinvest 1998).

The stations were originally designed to feed base-load energy into the ex-Yugoslavian grid system, explaining Kosovo's high share (7,0%) of produced electricity (and a corresponding high export ratio of 50%) in former Yugoslavia in 1988 (Riinvest 1998: 30, 32, 41).

According to an UNMIK-target, the peak demand amounts to 605 MW, see Commission (2001a: 12); another figure provided in the Program for Reconstruction and Recovery in Kosovo prepared by the European Commission and the World Bank amounts to 546 MW (European Commission/World Bank 1999: 127); see also Commission (2002a: 9), which defines 700-800 MW as a capacity that should be sufficient both to meet peak demand and to provide some exports to other parts of the FRY and the Balkans.

Lack of investments has been acute in particular since 1989. Kosovo's generation of electricity in the period 1989-1995 shrank by 57,2 %.

See Commission (2002a: 13). Winter peak demand is comparably high because electricity presently provides around 50% of heating energy.

The grids are in a weak condition, too. In the former Yugoslavian system, distribution grids were controlled by decentralized distribution companies and divided into seven areas: Ferizaji, Gjakova, Gjilani, Mitrovica, Peja, Prishtina and Prizreni. The total number of consumers was about 360,000. The total length of transmission lines (110 kV and higher) was 1,085 km, and of the distribution lines (35 kV and lower) about 29,000 km. Transmission and distribution transformer capacity was about 4,600 MVA. The backbone of the interconnected transmission system is a 400 kV network, which is interconnected with the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia and the former Yugoslavian Republic of Macedonia. There is also a 220 kV interconnection with the former Yugoslavian Republic of Macedonia, Serbia, and Albania (European Commission/World Bank, 1999: 127). According to the European Commission, the electricity grid system in Kosovo still remains weak and unreliable. The grid as a whole system suffered damage in the conflict, making worse the effects of a history of poor maintenance (Commission 2002a: 10).<sup>21</sup>

Apart from the heritage of run-down physical assets in generation and transport, current management, engineering, and operation seem to be a significant problem. Not least because the entire (Serb) management and many skilled workers fled Kosovo in 1999, the current management of the Kosovo Electricity Company (KEK, Korporata ElektroEnergjetike e Kosovës) include many individuals who had been out of the system for the ten-year period of exclusion up to 1999 (Commission 2002a: 10). And although substantial money from donors has flown into both management and physical assets, 22 the present situation still seems to be characterized by underutilization of power stations, blackouts, overstaffing, and huge deficits. For example, figures for the payment rate run between just over 30% (Commission 2002a: 10; Ismaili 2002) and 50 % (Demekas et al. 2002: 11) of the gross electricity available through the grid. Although this figure is improving on the former 15-18% that applied in 2000, a financially self-sustaining Kosovo Electricity Company today appears to be a pie in the sky. To fill the gap between demand and supply, Kosovo imports electricity from the neighboring countries, in most cases on an emergency basis, neither on the basis of long-term contracts nor on the basis of competitively negotiated power trades.

To sum up, the energy sector suffers from years of neglect in investment in physical and human capital, and from the armed conflict between NATO and the Yugoslavian forces. Substantial parts of the whole (generating and transport) system seem to be obsolete, several facilities are at the end of their useful life and outdated. The institutional structures, i.e., the governance structures do not seem adequate. This concerns the financing and operation on the supply side and also the demand side. Neither appropriate price structures, nor necessary gauges, i.e., meters as precondition for efficient rationing and financing, are installed. Thus, system instabilities are the result of history, and of failing present governance structures both on the

-

According to Riinvest (2000), in 2000 the 400 kV-grid was totally out of operation, the 200 kV-grid operated at 60% level, and the 100 kV-grid at 70% level. The distribution grid operated at a 70% level.

In total,  $\in$  450 Million has been provided since 1999. Main donors are the EU, EU member states, and the UN. For example, the EU alone provided some  $\in$  70 Million in 2000 for the energy sector and an additional  $\in$  28 Million for electricity imports (Commission 2002a: Attachment 1). In total, the European Union, via the European Agency for Reconstruction, has poured  $\in$  273.5 Million into Kosovo's energy sector since 1999 (http://www.unmikonline.org/pub/focuskos/feb02/focuskeco4.htm);  $\in$  121 million have been spent on the overhaul of Kosovo B (see Commission 2002b). For details of a consultancy contract, see, e.g., http://www.mottmac.com/html/05/05\_01\_Details.cfm?NewsHeaderID=276.

Apparently, KEK almost collapsed financially this winter (www.mediaclub.cg.yu/eng/news/archive/2002/januar/14kosovo.htm). In addition, rumors concerning possible corruption at KEK have been recently confirmed at least indirectly by Deputy Special Representative of the Secretary-General Andy Bearpark (http://www.unmikonline.org/press/2002/pressr/pr723.htm).

supply side and on the demand side, and a lack of coordination between supply and demand. In addition, the starting position for a reform in Kosovo is, at least in one particular respect, worse than in most other former socialist countries: there, at least the sovereignty of the state is undisputed. In Kosovo, the political future is open.

## 2. Immediate Answer

What are the regulatory consequences of the current technical and institutional characteristics? It is certain that some immediate repairs of power stations and grids must be done to stabilize the system on a short-term basis. Work on this matter has been initiated by UNMIK from the beginning on. As already mentioned, substantial funds have been raised and spent.<sup>24</sup>

But this is not the point here. The question to be discussed here is the question of which regulatory model should be strived for in the medium or long term. This choice of course does have impacts on short-term decisions. New investors or contractors will take this choice (and its credibility!) into account when making decisions. In addition, donors will be increasingly reluctant to provide funds for reconstruction if the targets are not clearly defined. Hence, getting the institutions right will be of utmost importance. A credible framework has to be designed for the significant investments needed, particularly in transmission and distribution.

## 3. Two Approaches to Solve the Dilemma

The dilemma mentioned faced by several transition countries is of particular importance in Kosovo: first, the stability of the institutional environment is – at best – fragile, resulting *inter alia* from the uncertain political status of the province and the related answer to the question of if and when a self-sustaining domestic political system will emerge; second, the market size in Kosovo is small (to say the least), the network density and quality are low. Thus, neither a common-carrier model nor a single-buyer model (nor the two other regulatory models) will do the trick to improve efficiency in Kosovo's electricity industry.

Two approaches come to mind to help solve or alleviate the dilemma. First, an improvement of institutional stability may be considered, i.e. an improvement of the institutional environment. This would improve the conditions for a successful implementation of a single-buyer model. Second, an improvement of grid density and quality may solve or ease the dilemma, particularly if supplemented by a wide-reaching market opening for foreign investors and foreign electricity traders. This would improve the conditions for success implementation of a common-carrier model.

#### a) Improvement of Institutional Stability

To begin with, an improvement of institutional stability is obviously not an easy task. The new regulatory framework for the electricity industry has to be implemented under continuing uncertainty regarding Kosovo's final political status. The uncertainty complicates the establishment of property rights. However, the establishment of a stable institutional environment and of a stable system of property rights and contract law is of utmost importance in attracting capital for necessary investments in physical and human assets. The perceived political risk largely depends on the reputation and the credibility of public agents and organizations. Extraordinary longevity and high specificity of the assets within the electricity industry demands stability not for few months or years, but rather for the next decade at least. Thus, even if Kosovo's "economic policy today is effectively independent" (Demekas et. al 2002: 1; 3), this does not imply that the perceived risk is nil. Recognizing the importance of a

Some problems stemming from foreign financing and state ownership will be mentioned below. See the following section (and also Fn. 23 above).

credible regulatory framework, the formal choice of one of the regulatory models will be of little help, if a minimum level of credibility is not attainable.

Two main instruments for containing regulatory opportunism should be mentioned: on the one hand, the entry of large foreign corporations may help stabilize the situation. If entry happens, the resulting situation might be characterized by a balance of power between large firms and a state, whatever exact meaning this may have in Kosovo in the future. The perceived risk of a 'regulatory hold-up' would most probably be smaller, e.g., for the French EdF or the German RWE as compared to the perceived risk for a comparably small Kosovanian enterprise. The result would be fourfold: first, the engagement of large corporations may lessen regulatory risk because of the 'countervailing power' of the large foreign firms. Second, the countries, from which the foreign firms come, will have an eye on the regulation policy in Kosovo. Both effects may decrease the risk of regulatory hold-up, i.e., decrease risk mainly induced by the demand side. Third, a large foreign firm also has to lose a lot: its own reputation, important for its planned activities in other jurisdictions. This helps containing regulatory risk stemming from potential capturing of the regulatory agency by the foreign firm. Fourth, the larger portfolio diversification of large foreign corporations would lessen the adverse impact of given regulatory risk on the investment willingness.

On the other hand, some direct form of 'stability import' may help. Today, it is not clear how power sharing between Kosovo's government and UNMIK will work out.<sup>26</sup> Thus, it is, at least in my understanding, not clear who owns responsibility and competences to define and enforce the basic institutional framework both for regulation and for operation of the utilities (be they private or public). But consider a credible assignment of some regulatory competences for Kosovo's electricity industry to foreign or international organizations, e.g., to the EU, the OECD, the OSCE, the World Bank, or some regional electricity authority.

This assignment has to be credible in the sense that a change in the general political status of the Kosovo in itself must not challenge this assignment of competences. In some sense, this assignment would secure the independence of the regulatory authority, whoever that authority may be; in addition, it would improve upon current transparency of regulation, and it would hopefully improve accountability of regulation. Such transfer of regulatory competences would thus improve the credibility of regulatory policy by 'borrowing' credibility and reputation from abroad, acting as a commitment device. This may appear as erroneous advice, incompatible with the sovereignty of Kosovo or Serbia. But experiences, e.g., in monetary policy, may suggest otherwise. Historically, several countries have given up monetary sovereignty in favor of a (de facto or de jure) common currency managed by multinational or foreign authorities. Kosovo's

As another way to enhance regulatory stability, Levy and Spiller (1994: 235) discuss particular privatization programs, which distribute ownership among as broad a share of the domestic population as possible. In this case, the broad ownership creates a large constituency in favor of stabilizing property rights and thus may act as a commitment device. Regarding the need for substantial investments in Kosovo's electricity industry, however, pure domestic ownership does not seem to be a sufficient solution.

According to Chapter 5 of the 'Constitutional Framework for Provisional Self-Government' (UNMIK 2001), the new domestic provisional (sic!) institutions shall have responsibilities, *inter alia*, in the fields of economic and financial policy. The Special Representative of the Secretary-General (SRDG), however, has "certain reserved powers and responsibilities" to which belong (according to Chapter 8) *inter alia*, the "authority to administer public, state and socially-owned property in accordance with the relevant UNMIK legislation in force, in cooperation with the Provisional Institutions of Self-Government"; and "Regulation of public and socially-owned enterprises after having consulted the Economic and Fiscal Council and the Provisional Institutions of Self-Government".

use of the DM or the Euro is a case in point, pointing to the potential efficiencies of such an arrangement.<sup>27</sup>

The lasting transfer of regulatory competences may be comprehensive, or, it may be only partial: the establishment of arbitration services and/or the establishment of a supranational court of arbitration may deliver the desired stability. The respective authorities would serve as an upstream regulator of last resort in case of disputes between the domestic (downstream) regulatory agency and the electricity firms or the consumers. In both cases, at least an improvement on the status quo may be realized. Private participation in investment and management combined with credible regulation can induce better coordination on the supply side (via hard budget constraints), on the demand side (through enforcement of payments as a rationing device and appropriate price structures in general), and better coordination between supply and demand (less blackouts, better investment performance).

Successful stabilization of the institutional environment may even allow the introduction of some elements of competition in electricity supply, i.e. the implementation of a single-buyer model. However, the scope for competition is certainly rather small. This is because of the small size of the market in Kosovo. Nevertheless, some competition in generation and trade is conceivable, at least concerning the planning, construction, and management of new power stations.

In this respect, the recent establishment of the Public Utilities Regulatory Authority of Kosovo (PURK) within the EU pillar 'Economic Reconstruction' may be the first step on the way to an internationally backed and independent regulator in Kosovo. However, it is important to note that this is an assignment of regulatory competences, which at present appears as a highly provisional measure. Even if the formation of PURK seems to be an improvement upon the present situation, and even if the formation of PURK will improve transparency and independency of regulation in Kosovo, it does not solve the current problems of diverging time horizons between regulation and investments. What is needed is protection of investments in assets that have a very long economic life (usually at least 20 years). Hence, the establishment of PURK presumably has to be complemented by additional guarantees for investors that their investments and revenue requirements will be respected for a longer time span.

A possible solution may consist in some kind of explicit regulatory contracts between PURK and the investing companies, backed by an explicit guarantee, e.g., provided by the EU. This would also leave open the possibility of a future transfer of regulatory powers from UNMIK to domestic authorities (whoever that may be) without the risk of unilateral termination of regulatory contracts (at least concerning the risk faced by the enterprises). In effect, the administration of the regulatory contracts would be assigned to PURK or its successor organization, supervised by another authority, to some extent irrespective of the future status of Kosovo. These regulatory contracts may take the form of concessions or licenses with a contract period of, say, 15 or 20 years, not necessarily designed as exclusive franchises but with assurances of fair execution in the future. In case of power generation licenses this may take the form of assurances for, e.g., either reasonable prices for generated power or non-discriminatory and reasonable grid-use prices for delivering power to domestic or foreign consumers. Obviously, in case of transmission or distribution licenses the regulatory contracts also have to encompass some form of assurances for reasonable grid-use prices, i.e., should provide some safeguards against 'too low' grid-use prices.

It should be obvious that if a lasting stabilization of the institutional environment is not achievable, private investments cannot be expected. Thus, the institutional change and the

Levy and Spiller (1994: 236) discuss international substitutes for missing national foundations in telecommunication regulation. They cite, *inter alia*, Jamaica's judicial system that continues to recognize the Privy Council in London as the final arbiter, "conferring continued credibility on its own regulatory system".

establishment of the rules of the game are the centerpiece of the reform enterprise. If this is not recognized, both the possible future privatization of KEK (in whichever form: full privatization, buy-outs, spin-offs, ...)<sup>28</sup> and the entry of new firms in Kosovo's electricity industry were not feasible. Obstacles to both regulatory reform and privatization are institutional, not financial: the electricity sector is in principle a highly profitable sector. Thus, the establishment of commercially viable electricity companies that can finance their investment requirements without recourse to foreign transfers is no problem stemming from peculiarities of the electricity industry but from political peculiarities in Kosovo.<sup>29</sup>

Of course, continued state ownership may be the only feasible solution if the contractual problems between private investors and the state or between investors and the customers cannot be solved. Continuing state ownership of KEK and investments only by KEK is, however, not a good solution either: incentive problems will be most probably overwhelming. In addition, that until today foreign donors have provided a substantial part of the financial means implies that unified state governance cannot be reached if regulation is provided by domestic agencies, and the costs of regulation are borne by other countries. This arrangement provides for some delicate form of a soft budget constraint. In any case, it involves the participation of foreign authorities. If this participation is not disputed, the reasoning mentioned above would suggest continuing regulation at least partially by foreign authorities. But in this case, the foreign participation may be used for stabilization of the regulatory environment, hence for improving the conditions for privatization and/or the entry of new companies.

And if the conditions for foreign market entry into generation, transport and retail sales are established, even the (political and legal problematic) issue of privatization of KEK would be of smaller importance: other companies can undertake investments in needed transport and generation facilities if technical and organizational interfaces between KEK and other companies are defined. In other words, if credible regulation is in place and a regime of stable property rights is defined and enforced.

b) Improvement of Grid Density and Quality, and Market Opening
As mentioned above, an improvement of grid density and quality may alleviate the dilemma. If grids are of high density and of high quality, both local market power and global market power are of less concern; grid reinforcement is thus a way to alleviate market power problems. In

On 13th June 2002 (after two years of intensive discussions) Special Representative of the Secretary General, Michael Steiner, signed two regulations that shall pave the way for privatization of socially owned enterprises in Kosovo. However, the electric utility KEK is classified not as a socially owned enterprise, but as a publicly owned enterprise. Hence, privatization of KEK is currently not an option. An earlier privatization plan suggested by UNMIK has raised a number of legal and political issues (see Demekas 2002: 19; see also Hashi 2001 for a comparative analysis of privatization in other transition countries). Apparently, it is not entirely clear whether the UNMIK has sufficient competences to make any change to the ownership status of publicly owned enterprises.

An example of the latter problem is provided by the notorious non-payment of electricity bills in Kosovo. A solution to this problem of revenue collection should have high priority. For a transaction-cost-based analysis of contractual problems between public agents (government, regulator) and firms as a cause for nationalizing network infrastructures, see Spiller (1993) and Levy and Spiller (1994). For a survey of formal contract-theoretic models for a comparative analysis of public and private ownership of firms, see Schmidt (1996).

\_

Spiller (1996: 426) cites the Colombian 'regulation' of network companies, which specifically stipulate that the government cannot regulate their prices and that exclusivity provisions are banned. In this particular case, the (credible) lack of regulation is apparently the chosen way to alleviate the problems of regulatory opportunism.

This is despite state ownership is a form of uniform governance in the sense that different parts of the electricity supply (generation, transport, and demand) are vertically integrated and contractual problems thus might be of smaller importance. The evidence on electricity reform in East European transition countries so far has supported this argument in favor of privatization. See Hirschhausen (2001) and Hashi (2001) for surveys.

general, grid enforcement provides the basis for an enlargement of the relevant market. Particularly if supplemented by a wide-reaching market opening for foreign and domestic investors, and electricity traders, the number of potential and active competitors would increase.<sup>32</sup> If substantial electricity imports are legally allowed and technically possible, domestic electricity companies are of less importance for network stability and general efficiency. To some extent, regulation would become less important.

There is more to it: if substantial electricity exports are allowed and possible, the domestic firms may partly exit the bilateral relationship with Kosovo's regulator. Perceived regulatory risk would be reduced; in addition, the efficiency of domestic regulation would probably be enhanced and, thus, the regulatory risk even further reduced. In the medium to long term, this market opening could lead to a large integrated market, thus to market-driven safeguarding of investments in electricity generation, to appropriate price structures for electricity usage, to appropriate price signals in electricity transport, and to competition between alternative institutional arrangements (i.e., bilateral contracts and power exchanges) in power trade. Market opening may thus reduce the regulatory scope substantially. In other words, a common-carrier model may be within reach.

## V Concluding Remarks

A substantial international opening of Kosovo's electricity market may provide a solution to the dilemma faced by Kosovo's regulation policy for the electricity sector. This international market opening encompasses a lasting, more or less distinct, abandonment of (some) state sovereignty for electricity regulation, i.e., some sort of internationalization of regulation, and a wide-reaching market opening for foreign and domestic investors, and for electricity traders.

Of course, this policy presupposes – at least to some extent – cooperation with neighboring jurisdictions. There is no way of enhancing effective competition if neighboring jurisdictions prohibit trans-frontier electricity trade. A further caveat: there would be only small scope for actual competition if capacities in generation and transportation were in short supply in the whole region. At least concerning generation, this does not seem to be the case: according to recent data provided by UCTE (2002: Fig. 1A, 1B, 1C), there are no large differences between expected reserve margins in the main UCTE region and the southern region encompassing Kosovo. In addition, first steps towards a regional (South-East European) electricity market have apparently been made. The countries of the region have committed themselves formally to establishing such a market by the end of 2006. In this respect, the (re)interconnection and synchronization of grids within the region and with the large European electrical interconnected network (UCTE) seems necessary not only for Kosovo but for some other neighboring transition states, too (Bosnia-Herzegovina, Serbia, Montenegro, Romania, and Bulgaria) and not least for EU member state Greece, which has also been largely isolated from the main UCTE-grid since

Of course, competition would presuppose the installment of appropriate meters which today often are missing and/or are ignored by the consumers. However, this enforcement of payments would be necessary anyway to finance the costs of supply. It does not seem sustainable to finance a large part of the supply of electricity through payments by the EU (or by Kosovo's taxpayers).

Commission 2001b: 18, see also the September 1999 newsletter of the Black Sea Regional Electricity centre: <a href="http://www.bsrec.bg/newsletter/sept99">http://www.bsrec.bg/newsletter/sept99</a>) and the recent presentation by Maria Manicuta at the 3rd Southeast Europe Energy Regulatory Forum. April 23, 2002 (Manicuta 2002). In addition, at least in Croatia, Bulgaria and Romania reforms on the line of the EU Directives are underway (Commission 2001b: 20). In this respect, the Electricity Liberalization Directive represents "both an opportunity and a challenge" (Stern and Davis 1998: 457) for the European transition countries. The same argument may hold for Kosovo: The related prospect of a reintegration into the larger European economy may serve as a further commitment device for Kosovo's regulator (whoever that may be) for credible reform and liberalization. Therefore, explicit implementation of the EU electricity directive should be considered in Kosovo.

the beginning of the Yugoslavian conflicts. According to the UCTE (2002), re-connection is currently expected for 2003, widening the scope for regional and interregional power trade, thus widening the scope for more efficiency and improved system stability.

Over and above that, it is to be questioned whether Kosovo should aim at designing a complete and separate regulatory framework. Some arguments speak for a supplementary regional approach, which may further enhance Kosovo's policy credibility. A more or less distinct interregional cooperation would indeed open further possibilities for enhancing efficiency, both in individual states (i.e., province, in the case of Kosovo) and in the greater region as a whole. Therefore, the design of a regional regulatory framework should be high on the agenda. This regionalization of regulation may, to some extent, complement or substitute other forms of internationalization of Kosovo's regulation policy for the electricity sector. In this respect, a complete uniformity of regulatory rules and procedures should presumably not be strived for. This is because at least a minimum level of competition between alternative regulatory rules and, therefore, a minimum of decentralized regulatory competences help to contain regulatory opportunism and facilitate the discovery of appropriate regulatory policies. In addition, decentralized regulatory competences facilitate the consideration of differences between the states (or provinces) concerning 'technical' characteristics, political characteristics, and preferences (public service obligations; e.g., Kumkar 2002a).

To sum up, strengthening Kosovo's electricity transport infrastructure seems to be of utmost importance. Significant investments are definitely warranted. The decline in foreign transfers implies that fostering private investments in electricity infrastructure should be high on the agenda. However, foreign and domestic private investors are unlikely to undertake major projects as long as uncertainty about the province's final political status persists. The prospect of rapidly declining foreign transfers (Demakas et al. 2002: 14) does not help. Thus, the policy goal must be to establish political, judicial and economical structures as stable and credible as possible. One of the main elements should be a strengthening of the integration of Kosovo's economy into that of the encompassing region and the rest of Europe. This would help in building confidence in regulation policy and it would help enlarging the market, thereby widening scope for competition and enhanced efficiency.

## References

- Baumol, W.J., J.A. Ordover, and R.D. Willig (1997). Parity Pricing and its Critics: A Necessary Condition for Efficiency in the Provision of Bottleneck Services to Competitors. *Yale Journal on Regulation* 14 (1): 145–163.
- Bickenbach, F. (1999). Regulierungen und Wettbewerb im Bereich der Netzinfrastrukturen: Begründung, Regeln und Institutionen. Kieler Arbeitspapiere 910. Kiel: Institut für Weltwirtschaft.
- Bickenbach, F., L. Kumkar, R. Soltwedel (2002). Antitrust and Regulation The View of New Institutional Economics. In: K.F. Zimmermann (Ed.), Frontiers in Economics. Heidelberg.
- Commission (Commission of the European Communities) (2001a). Report form the Commission to the European Parliament and the Council: European Agency for Reconstruction Annual Report 2000. Brussels, 30.7.2001 (COM (2001) 446 final). http://europa.eu.int/eur-lex/en/com/rpt/2001/com2001 0446en01.pdf
- Commission (Commission of the European Communities) (2001b). Transport and Energy Infrastructure in South East Europe. Brussels, October 15, 2001. http://www.seerecon.org/Calendar/2001/Events/src/ec\_transport\_energy\_infrastructure\_see.pdf
- Commission (Commission of the European Communities (2002a). Draft Annual Programme 2002 for Kosovo. 24-05-02. http://europa.eu.int/comm/europeaid/projects/cards/kosovo programme 2002 en.pdf.
- Commission (Commission of the European Communities (2002b). Interim Report VI: Quarterly Report to the European Parliament. January to March 2002. 30/04/2002. http://www.ear.eu.int/news/news-a1c2g3.htm
- Crocker, K.J., and S.E. Masten (1996). Regulation and Administered Contracts Revisited: Lessons from Transaction-cost Economics for Public Utility Regulation. *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 9 (1): 5–39.
- Demekas, D.G., J. Herderschee, D.F. Jacobs (2002). Institutions and Policies for Reconstruction and Growth. International Monetary Fund 2002. http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/kosovo/2002/eng/iprg/IPRG.pdf
- Erlei, M., M. Leschke, D. Sauerland (1999). Neue Institutionenökonomik. Stuttgart.
- European Commission/World Bank (1999). A Program for Reconstruction and Recovery in Kosovo. Prepared by the European Commission and the World Bank in Support of the United Nations Mission in Kosovo. November 3, 1999. http://www.seerecon.org/Calendar/1999/Events/SDC/ecwb-kosovo.pdf
- Furubotn, E.G., Richter, R.(1997): Institutions and Economic Theory: The Contribution of the New Institutional Economics. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Goldberg, V.P. (1976). Regulation and Administered Contracts. *The Bell Journal of Economics* 7 (2): 426–448.
- Grossman, S.J., and O.D. Hart. (1986). The Costs and Benefits of Ownership: A Theory of Vertical and Lateral Integration. *Journal of Political Economy* 94 (4): 691–719.
- Hart, O.D., and J. Moore (1990). Property Rights and the Nature of the Firm. *Journal of Political Economy* 98 (6): 1119–1158.

- Hart, O.D., and J. Moore (1999). Foundations of Incomplete Contracts. *Review of Economic Studies* 66 (1): 115–138.
- Hashi, Iraj (2001). The International Experience of Privatization and Lessons for Kosova. Division of Economics at Staffordshire University Business School Paper 2001.12.
- Hirschhausen, C.v. (2001). Infrastructure Policies in the East European Transformation Countries Paving the Way to European Enlargement. European Centre for Comparative Government and Public Policy. Diskussionspapiere zu Staat und Wirtschaft 31/2001.
- Hirschhausen, C.v., P. Opitz (2001). Power Utility Re-Regulation in East European and CIS Transformation Countries (1990-1999). An Institutional Interpretation. TU Berlin, Fakultät VIII Diskussionspapier 2001/7.
- Hunt, S. and G. Shuttleworth (1996). Competition and Choice in Electricity. Chichester: John Wiley and Sons.
- Ismaili, F. (2002). Public Enterprise Management KEK and Cash Flow A case study -. Presentation at Conference "Fighting Corruption in Kosovo: Lessons from the region". March 4 5, 2002. Prishtina. http://www.forumi.org/Ali%20Hamiti.ppt
- Joskow, P.L. (1991). The Role of Transaction Cost Economics in Antitrust and Public Utility Regulatory Policies. *The Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* 7 (special issue): 53–83.
- Joskow, P.L. (1996). Introducing Competition into Regulated Network Industries: From Hierarchies to Markets in Electricity. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 5 (2) 341–382.
- Joskow, P.L. (2001). California's Electricity Crisis. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy* 17 (3) 365-388.
- Joskow, P.L. (2002). Transaction Cost Economics, Antitrust Rules, and Remedies. *Journal of Law, Economics, and Organization* (18): 95-116.
- Joskow, P.L., and R. Schmalensee (1986). Incentive Regulation for Electric Utilities. *Yale Journal on Regulation* 4 (1): 1–49.
- Kennedy, D. (1999). Competition in the Power Sectors of Transition Countries. European Bank for Reconstruction and Development Working Paper 41.
- Kirchner, C. (1997). Kartellrecht und neue Institutionenökonomik: Interdisziplinäre Überlegungen. In J. Kruse, K. Stockmann, and L. Vollmer (eds.), *Wettbewerbspolitik im Spannungsfeld nationaler und internationaler Kartellrechtsordnungen*. Wirtschaftsrecht und Wirtschaftspolitik Bd. 150. Baden-Baden: Nomos-Verlag.
- Korovilas, J.P. The Economic Sustainability of Post-conflict Kosovo. Post-Communist Economies 14 (1): 109-121.
- Kruse, J. (1997). Vertikale Integration als Wettbewerbsproblem. In J. Kruse, K. Stockmann, and L. Vollmer (eds.), *Wettbewerbspolitik im Spannungsfeld nationaler und internationaler Kartellrechtsordnungen*. Wirtschaftsrecht und Wirtschaftspolitik Bd. 150. Baden-Baden: Nomos-Verlag.
- Kumkar, L. (2000). Wettbewerbsorientierte Reformen der Stromwirtschaft: Eine institutionenökonomische Analyse. Kiel Studies 305. Tübingen: Mohr Siebeck.
- Kumkar, L. (2002a). The European Electricity Market: Centralization of Regulation or Competition between Regulatory Approaches? Kiel Discussion Papers 387. Kiel.

- Kumkar, L. (2002b). Liberalisierungsversprechen und Regulierungsversagen Das kalifornische Strommarktdebakel. *Zeitschrift für Wirtschaftspolitik* 51(2) (*forthcoming*).
- Kumkar, L., Neu, A.D. (1997). Nach beschlossener Marktöffnung auch Wettbewerb in der Elektrizitätswirtschaft? Status quo und Perspektiven in Deutschland und Europa. Kiel Institute for World Economics.
- Laffont, J.-J. (1994). The New Economics of Regulation Ten Years After. *Econometrica* 62 (3): 507–537.
- Laffont, J.-J., and J. Tirole (1993). *A Theory of Incentives in Procurement and Regulation*. Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Laffont, J.-J., and J. Tirole (1994). Access Pricing and Competition. *European Economic Review* 38 (1): 1673–1710.
- Laffont, J.-J., and J. Tirole (1996). Creating Competition through Interconnection: Theory and Practice. *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 10 (3): 227–256.
- Levy, B., und P.T. Spiller (1994). Regulation, Institutions, and Commitment in Telecommunications: A Comparative Analysis of Five Country Studies. Proceedings of the World Bank Annual Conference on Development Economics 1993: 215–252.
- Liston, C. (1993): Price-Cap versus Rate-of-Return Regulation. *Journal of Regulatory Economics* 5 (1): 25–48.
- Lyons, B.R. (1996). Empirical Relevance of Efficient Contract Theory: Inter-firm Contracts. *Oxford Review of Economic Policy* 12 (4): 27–52.
- Manicuta, M. (2002). Update on ERRA's Regional Market Working Group. Presentation at 3rd Southeast Europe Energy Regulatory Forum, April 23, 2002. Budapest, Hungary. http://www.erranet.org/library/presentations/Manicuta%20SEE%20reg%20mkts.pdf
- Maskin, E., and J. Tirole (1999a). Unforeseen Contingencies and Incomplete Contracts. *Review of Economic Studies* 66 (1): 83–114.
- Maskin, E., and J. Tirole (1999b). Two Remarks on the Property-rights Literature. *Review of Economic Studies* 66 (1): 139–149.
- Masten, S.E. (1999). About Oliver E. Williamson. In G.R. Carroll and D.J. Teece (eds.), *Firms, Markets, and Hierarchies: The Transaction Cost Economics Perspective*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Midttun, A. (ed.) (1997). European Electricity Systems in Transition: A Comparative Analysis of Policy and Regulation in Western Europe. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Milgrom, P.R., and J. Roberts (1992). *Economics, Organization and Management*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ.: Prentice Hall.
- Neven, D., R. Nuttall, and P. Seabright (1993). *Merger in Daylight: The Economics and Politics of European Merger Control*. London: CEPR.
- Riinvest (Institute for Development Research) (1998). Economic Activities and the Democratic Development of Kosova (Research Report). Prishtina. http://www.cipe.org/pdf/kosova
- Riinvest (Institute for Development Research) (2000). Post-War Reconstruction of Kosova: Strategy and Policies (Research Report). Prishtina, March 2000. http://www.balkannetwork.org/info/Kosova-Report-Post-War.PDF

- Schenk, K-E. (1997). Kommentar. Dienstleistungsmonopole und Netzzugang in der europäischen Wirtschaftsverfassung. In K.-E. Schenk, D. Schmidtchen, and M.E. Streit (eds.): *Jahrbuch für Neue Politische Ökonomie* 16. Tübingen: Mohr.
- Schmidt, K.M. (1996). Incomplete Contracts and Privatization. *European Economic Review* 40: 569–579.
- Seabright, P. (1994). Einflußnahme auf die Regulierung, Subsidiarität und europäische Fusionspolitik. In Kommission der Europäischen Gemeinschaften (ed.), *Wettbewerb und Integration: Die Fusionskontrollpolitik der Gemeinschaft*. Europäische Wirtschaft 57. Luxemburg.
- Seabright, P. (1996). Accountability and Decentralisation in Government: An Incomplete Contracts Model. *European Economic Review* 40 (1): 61–89.
- Seabright, P. (1998). Competition Policy towards Vertical Restraints: Implementable Rules for Competition Authorities. In S. Martin (ed.), *Competition Policies in Europe*. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Schmidtchen, D. (1994). Antitrust zwischen Marktmachtphobie und Effizienzeuphorie: Alte Themen neue Ansätze. In W. Möschel, et al. (eds.), *Marktwirtschaft und Rechtsordnung*. Baden-Baden: Nomos-Verlag.
- Shelanski, H.A., and P.G. Klein (1999). Empirical Research in Transaction Cost Economics. A Review and Assessment. In G.R. Carroll and D.J. Teece (eds.), *Firms, Markets, and Hierarchies: The Transaction Cost Economics Perspective*. New York: Oxford University Press
- Spiller, P.T. (1993). Institutions and Regulatory Commitment in Utilities' Privatization. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 2 (3): 387–450.
- Spiller, P.T. (1996). Institutions and Commitment. *Industrial and Corporate Change* 5 (2): 421–452.
- Spiller, P.T, and I. Vogelsang (1997). The Institutional Foundations of Regulatory Commitment in the UK: The Case of Telecommunications. *Journal of Institutional and Theoretical Economics* 153 (4): 607–629.
- Stern, J., J.R. Davis (1998). Economic Reform of the Electricity Industries of Central and Eastern Europe. Economics of Transition 6(2): 427-460.
- Tirole, J. (1999): Incomplete Contracts: Where Do We Stand? *Econometrica* 67 (4): 741–781.
- UCTE (Union for the Co-Ordination of Transmission of Electricity). Annual Report 2001. http://www.ucte.org/pdf/Publications/2001/Report 2001.pdf
- UCTE (Union for the Co-Ordination of Transmission of Electricity). UCTE Power Balance Forecasts 2002-2004. February 1<sup>st</sup>. http://www.ucte.org/pdf/Publications/2002/Important 2002 3.pdf
- UNMIK (United Nations Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (2000). KOSOVO: Reconstruction 2000. April 2000. Department of Reconstruction. http://www.seerecon.org/Kosovo/UNMIK/recon2000.pdf
- UNMIK (United Nations Interim Administration Mission in Kosovo (2001). Constitutional Framework for Provisional Self-Government. UNMIK/REG/2001/9 15 May 2001. http://www.unmikonline.org/constframework.htm

- Valetti, T.M., and A. Estache (1999). The Theory of Access Pricing: An Overview for Infrastructure Regulators. CEPR Discussion Paper Series 2133. London: CEPR.
- Voigt, S., H. Engerer (2002). Institutions and Transformation Possible Implications of the New Institutional Economics. In: K.F. Zimmermann (Ed.), Frontiers in Economics. Heidelberg.
- Williamson, O.E. (1985). *The Economic Institutions of Capitalism. Firms, Markets, Relational Contracting*. New York: Free Press.